

## Original Research Article

### **Effect of different temperature, lights, carbon & nitrogen sources and pH on the sporulation and mycelial growth of *Macrophomina phaseolina* in vitro**

**Comment [GIV1]:** Isolate from Fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum-graecum* L.)

#### **ABSTRACT**

Fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum-graecum* L.) also known as *Methi* belongs to family *leguminosae*. The study of physiological parameters for the mycelial growth and sporulation of the *M. phaseolina* was undertaken by culturing the pathogen in different temperature, lights, carbon & nitrogen sources and pH conditions. Among the temperature, maximum mycelial growth and sporulation was observed at 35°C. In all the tested different lights maximum mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina* was observed in black light. Among the carbon and nitrogen sources maximum mycelial growth and sporulation were observed in sucrose and L-alanine. Respectively, in all the tested different pH levels maximum mycelial growth and sporulation was recorded at 7.0 pH.

**Comment [GIV2]:** What is your conclusion and recommendation from the experiment

**Comment [GIV3]:** List at least five keywords at the end of the abstract

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Fenugreek believed to be originated from South East Europe and West Asia is cultivated throughout India and other parts of world for leafy vegetables, condiment, medicinal purposes and fodder also. It is rich source of minerals, protein, vitamin A and C. Fenugreek seed is also used as dye making and for extraction of alkaloids or steroids. The dried leaves and flowers are used for flavour. The leaves (per 100 gram of edible portions) contain moisture (per 100 gram of edible portions) 86.1 g, thiamine 0.05 mg, fat 0.9 g, calcium 360 mg, protein 4.4 g, oxalic acid 13 mg, fiber 1.1 g, iron 17.2 mg, potassium 51 mg, mineral 1.5 g, sulphur 167 mg, carbohydrates 6.00 g, vitamin A 6450 IU, magnesium 67 mg, nicotinic acid 0.7 mg, sodium 76.1 mg, vitamin C 54 mg, phosphorus 51 mg and chlorine 165 mg (Bose and Som, 1986).

Fenugreek has medicinal value as it cure cardiovascular diseases, inflammatory diseases, cancer and chronic diseases. It contain anti-inflammatory, antimutagenic, antioxidant (Srinivas, 2014). Now-a-days, it is used as food stabilizer, adhesive and emulsifying agent due to its high fibre, protein and gum content. The protein of fenugreek is found to be more soluble at alkaline pH (Meghwal and Goswami, 2012).

Fenugreek is utilized in many parts of the world in different forms and has been regarded as a treatment for many ailments known to man (Laila *et al.*, 2013).

Fenugreek is infected by several fungal, bacterial and viral diseases. Major fungal diseases of fenugreek are Cercospora leaf spot (*Cercospora traversian*), Charcoal rot (*Macrophomina phaseolina* (Tassi.) Goid.), Wilt (*Fusarium oxysporum* Schlecht.), Downy mildew (*Peronospora trigonellae* Gaum), Rhizoctonia root rot (*Thanatephorus cucumeris* Kuhn), Powdery mildew (*Leveillula taurica* (Lev.) Arm), Root rot (*Sclerotinia trifoliorum* Sacc.) and Rust (*Uromyces strigonellae* Pass.) etc.

*Macrophomina phaseolina* (Tassi.) Goid. infects more than 500 plant species worldwide (Sinclair, 1982) and causes charcoal rot disease in several agronomical important crop including soyabean, maize, sorghum, cotton and fenugreek.

**Comment [GIV4]:** What is the aim of carrying out this study?

## METHOD AND MATERIAL

**Comment [GIV5]:** Where is the study area?

### Effect of temperature

It is a well known phenomenon that the temperature effect the considerable influence on the biochemical activity of pathogens. 20 ml of Potato Dextrose Agar was poured in each of sterilized Petri plate. Each Petri plate was inoculated aseptically by placing a 5 mm disc in the centre from actively growing 7 days old culture of pathogen. The inoculated Petri plates were incubated at 20°C, 25°C, 30°C, 35°C and 40°C. Temperature respectively for 7 days and observation of growth and sporulation was recorded.

**Comment [GIV6]:** How and where did you get the pathogen?

### Effect of light

Effect of different light intensity on the mycelial growth of *M. phaseolina* was tested by keeping the inoculated Petri plates wrapped in coloured sheets. Present study has been taken red, black, yellow, green and normal light conditions. The inoculated petri plates were incubated at 28±2°C for 7 days with three replications. Mycelial growth was recorded after 7 days of incubation.

### Effect of carbon and nitrogen sources

To find out the effect of various carbon sources, like glucose, sucrose, maltose, fructose and lactose on growth of *Macrophomina phaseolina*. The sucrose content of basal medium Czapek's dox agar was substituted by adding different sources of carbon on equivalent basis (12.63 g in 30 g of sucrose). Inoculated Petri plates containing basal medium supplemented by different carbon sources were incubated at 28±2°C for 7 days and the mycelial growth and sporulation were recorded.

To find out the effect of various nitrogen sources on growth of *Macrophomina phaseolina*, sodium nitrate of basal medium Czapek's dox agar medium was substituted by adding different sources of nitrogen on equivalent basis (329 mg in 2 g of sodium nitrate) to study the effect of different nitrogen sources on the growth of *Macrophomina phaseolina*. The inoculated Petri dishes containing basal medium supplemented with

different nitrogen sources were incubated at  $28\pm 2^{\circ}\text{C}$  for 7 days and observation for mycelial growth of each isolate and sporulation was recorded. Nitrogen sources studied were Ammonium chloride, L-alanine, L-arginine and Glutamic acid.

### Effect of hydrogen ion concentration (pH)

The study of different pH levels *i.e.* 6.0, 6.5, 7.0, 7.5, 8.0 were undertaken with a view to ascertain the effect of different hydrogen ion concentration of the medium on growth of the fungus. The initial pH of the basal medium before autoclaving was adjusted with a difference of 0.5 using N/10 NaOH or N/10 HCl. After autoclaving the pH was again tested. The inoculated Petri plates were incubated at  $28\pm 2^{\circ}\text{C}$  for 7 days and observation of growth and sporulation was recorded. The number of sclerotia were observed microscopically and graded as below. (Tandel and Sabalpara, 2011)

**Chart 1 : Gradation and score**

Score	Grade	Number of sclerotia /microscopic field) at 100X	Score
++++	Excellent	>50	++++
+++	Good	30-50	+++
++	Fair	21-30	++
+	Poor	10-20	+
-	No sporulation	-	-

## RESULT AND DISCUSSION

### Effect of temperature

Five different temperature *viz.*,  $20^{\circ}\text{C}$ ,  $25^{\circ}\text{C}$ ,  $30^{\circ}\text{C}$ ,  $35^{\circ}\text{C}$  and  $40^{\circ}\text{C}$  were tested on mycelium growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina*. Data indicated in table 1 revealed that among the tested temperature, highest mycelial growth was recorded at  $35^{\circ}\text{C}$  (90.00 mm) followed by  $30^{\circ}\text{C}$  (80.62 mm),  $25^{\circ}\text{C}$  (68.72 mm),  $40^{\circ}\text{C}$  (49.41 mm) and found least at  $20^{\circ}\text{C}$  (46.61 mm). All the temperature regimes tested showed a wide range of sporulation from none (-) to excellent (++++). However, excellent (++++), sporulation was observed at temperature  $35^{\circ}\text{C}$ , good (+++) sporulation were recorded  $30^{\circ}\text{C}$  and at the temperature  $20^{\circ}\text{C}$  and  $40^{\circ}\text{C}$  there was poor (+) sporulation of the test fungus. In the present study, the excellent mycelial growth and maximum sporulation was recorded at  $35^{\circ}\text{C}$  followed by  $30^{\circ}\text{C}$ . Hence, the temperature range of  $30^{\circ}\text{C}$  to  $35^{\circ}\text{C}$  can be favorable to obtain maximum mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina*.

**Table 1 Effect of different temperature on the mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina* in vitro**

Temperature(°C)	Mycelial growth (mm)	Sclerotia per microscopic field
20	46.61 (43.03)*	+
25	68.72 (55.97)	++
30	80.62 (63.86)	+++
35	90.00 (71.53)	++++
40	49.01 (44.41)	+
S.Em± CD (P = 0.05)	0.70 2.24	

\*Figure in parentheses are angular transformed value ++++; Excellent, +++; Good, ++; Fair, +; Poor, -; Absent

### Effect of light

To study the effect of different lights on the mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina* five different lights conditions were used viz., normal, red, black, yellow and green light conditions. Data presented in table 2 showed that maximum mycelial growth was observed in black light (90.00 mm) followed by normal light (86.77 mm), yellow (84.08 mm), red (78.23 mm) and green (77.26 mm). Excellent (++++) sporulation was observed at black light, good (+++) sporulation was observed at normal light and at the red and green lights there was poor (+) sporulation of the test pathogen. In the present study, the excellent fungal growth and maximum sporulation was observed at black light followed by normal light. Based on the findings, it can be recommended that for obtaining maximum mycelial growth and sporulation, *M. phaseolina* culture should be exposed in black to normal light.

### Effect of carbon and nitrogen sources

Carbon sources viz., glucose, sucrose, maltose, fructose, and lactose were used to observe the effect of carbon sources on mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina*. Data showed in table 3 revealed that highest mycelial growth (90.00 mm) in sucrose followed by fructose (87.61 mm), maltose (64.58 mm), glucose (64.41 mm) and lactose (41.13 mm). Similarly other physiological parameters all the carbon sources showed a wide range of sporulation from none (-) to excellent (++++). However, carbon source sucrose was recorded excellent (++++) sporulation. Rest of carbon sources also good (+++) to poor (+) sporulation were recorded. On the basis of results, it can be

recommended that for obtaining maximum mycelial growth and sporulation *M. phaseolina* culture should be exposed in sucrose to fructose carbon sources.

**Table 2 Effect of different lights on the mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina* in vitro**

Lights	Mycelial growth (mm)	Sclerotia per microscopic field
Normal	86.77 (68.65)*	+++
Red	78.23 (62.17)	++
Black	90.00 (71.53)	++++
Yellow	84.08 (66.47)	+++
Green	77.26 (61.49)	++
S.Em± CD(P=0.05)	0.56 1.80	

\*Figure in parentheses are angular transformed value +++++; Excellent, +++; Good, ++; Fair, +; Poor, -; Absent

**Table 3 Effect of different carbon sources on the mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina* in vitro**

Carbon sources	Mycelial growth (mm)	Sclerotia per microscopic field
Glucose	64.41 (53.35)*	++
Sucrose	90.00 (71.53)	++++
Maltose	64.58 (53.45)	++
Fructose	87.61 (69.39)	+++
Lactose	41.13 (39.62)	+
S.Em± CD (P = 0.05)	0.56 1.81	

\*Figure in parentheses are angular transformed values +++++; Excellent, +++; Good, ++; Fair, +; Poor, -; Absent

Nitrogen sources viz., ammonium chloride, glutamic acid, L-alanine and L-arginine were tested the effect of nitrogen sources on mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina*. Data showed in table 4 revealed that highest mycelial growth (84.78 mm) in L-alanine followed by glutamic acid (83.49 mm) and L- arginine (62.75 mm). However, ammonium chloride (48.49 mm) yielded the lowest mycelial growth. All the tested nitrogen sources showed a wide range of sporulation from none (-) to excellent (++++). However, nitrogen sources L-alanine and glutamic acid was observed excellent (++++) sporulation. Remaining nitrogen sources showed good (+++) to poor (+) sporulation respectively, L-arginine and ammonium chloride were recorded. Based on the findings, it can be recommended that for obtaining maximum mycelial growth and sporulation *M. phaseolina* culture should be exposed in L-alanine to glutamic acid nitrogen sources.

**Table 4 Effect of different nitrogen sources on the mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina* in vitro**

Nitrogen sources	Mycelial growth (mm)	Sclerotia per microscopic field
Ammonium chloride	48.49 (44.12)*	+
Glutamic acid	83.97 (66.42)	++++
L-alanine	84.78 (67.03)	++++
L-arginine	62.75 (52.37)	++
S.Em± CD (P = 0.05)	0.82 2.72	

\*Figure in parentheses are angular transformed values++++; Excellent, +++; Good, ++; Fair, +; Poor, -; Absent

#### Effect of different pH

Five different pH levels were used to study the effect of pH on mycelium growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina*. Data showed in table 5 revealed that among the tested pH, highest mycelial growth and sporulation was observed at pH 7.0 (90.00 mm) followed by pH 6.5 (87.92 mm), pH 7.5 (84.74 mm), pH 6.0 (83.08 mm) and found minimum at 8.0 pH (79.53 mm). Excellent (++++) sporulation were observed at pH 7.0 and pH 6.5, good (+++) sporulation were recorded at pH 7.5 and pH 6.0, Fair (++) sporulation were recorded at pH 8.0 of the test pathogen. Hence, the pH range of 6.5 to 7.0 can be suitable to obtain excellent mycelial growth and sporulation.

**Table 5 Effect of different pH on the mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. phaseolina* in vitro**

pH levels	Mycelial growth (mm)	Sclerotia per microscopic field
6.0	83.08 (65.70)*	+++
6.5	87.92 (69.66)	++++
7.0	90.00 (71.53)	++++
7.5	84.74 (67.03)	+++
8.0	79.53 (63.13)	++
S.Em± CD (P = 0.05)	1.01 3.23	

\*Figure in parentheses are angular transformed values ++++; Excellent, +++; Good, ++; Fair, +; Poor, -; Absent

## REFERENCE

- Akhtar, K. P., Sarwar, G. and Arshad, H. M. I. (2011) Temperature response, pathogenicity, seed infection and mutant evaluation against *M. phaseolina* causing charcoal rot disease of sesame. *Arch. Phytol. Pl. Protec.* **44**(4):320-330
- Bhupathi, P. and Theradimani, M. (2018) *In vitro* Studies of carbon, Nitrogen sources and pH on mycelia growth blackgram Root rot caused by *M. phaseolina*. *Int. J. Pharma.* **7**(6):33-35.
- Bose, T. K. and Som, M. G. (1986) Vegetable Crops in India. *Naya Prakash, Kolkata* (W.B.), pp.959.
- Chowdary, N. B. and Govindaiah (2007) Influence of different abiotic conditions on the growth and sclerotial production of *Macrophomina phaseolina*. *Int. J. Ser.* **46**(2):186-188.
- Csondes, I., Kadlicsk, S. and Gaborjanyi, R. (2007) Effect of different temperature and culture media on the growth of *Macrophomina phaseolina*. *Comm. Agri. App. Bio. Sci.* **72**(4):839-848.

**Comment [GIV7]:** No discussion of results in relation to other findings by other researchers  
2. There is conclusion from this research work  
3. There is also no recommendation and no message to present to farmers.  
4. No acknowledgement if any

- Dhingra, O. and Danilo, C. (1981) Effect of soil temperature, moisture, and nitrogen on competitive saprophytic ability of *Macrophomina phaseolina*. *Tran. Brit. Mycol. Soc.* **77**(1):15-20.
- Izabella, C., Kadlicsko, S. and Gaborjanyi, R. (2007) Growth of *Macrophomina phaseolina* isolates depend on different temperature. *AnaleleUniversitatii Din Oradea, Fascicula: ProtecțiaMediului*, Plant Protection Institute, Pannon University, Georgikon faculty of Agriculture, Keszthely, **12**:31-34
- Khamari, B., Satapathy, S. N., Roy, S. and Patra, C. (2018) Adaptability of *Macrophomina phaseolina*, the Incident of Stem and Root Rot Disease of Sesame to Different Regime of Temperature, pH and Light period. *Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. App. Sci.* **7**(12):761-766.
- Khan, R. A., Bha, T. A. and Kumar, K. (2012) Management of Chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) Dry root Rot Caused by *Rhizoctonia bataticola* (Taub.) Butler. *Int. J. Res. Pharm.Biomed. Sci.***3**(4):1539-1548
- Khanzada, S. A., Iqbal, S. M., Haqqani, A. M. (2006) Physiological studies on *Macrophomina phaseolina* (Tassi.) Gold. *J. Art.***1**(1):31-34.
- Knox-Davies, P. S. (1965) Pycnidium production *R. bataticola*. *South Afri. J. Agri. Sci.***8**:205-218.
- Kulkarni, S. (2000) Biology and management of dry stalk rots of maize (*Zea mays* L.) caused by *Fusarium moniliformaesheild* and *Macrophomina phaseolina* (Tassi.) Goid. *Doctoral dissertation, Uni. Agri. Sci. GKVK, Bangalore*.
- Kumar, S. and Chaudhary, B. (2020) Effect of different media, temperature and pH on growth and microsclerotia formation of *Macrophomina phaseolina* causing charcoal rot of soybean. *Chem. Sci. Rev. Lett.***9**(35):618-621.
- Laila, O., Murtaza, I., Abdin, M. Z., Ahmad, S., Ganai, N. A. and Jehangir, M. (2013) Development and validation of HPTLC method for simultaneous estimation of diosgenin and quercetin in fenugreek seeds (*Trigonella foenum-graceum*). *ISRN Chromatography*, pp.1-8.
- Meghwal, M. and Goswami, T. K. (2012) A Review on the Functional Properties, Nutritional Content, Medicinal Utilization and Potential Application of Fenugreek. *J. Food Protec. Technol.* **3**(9):1-10.
- Muthukumar, A. and Venktesk, A. (2016) Effect of light and aeration on the growth of *Sclerotium rolfsii* in vitro. *Afri. J. Biotech.***12**(49):6837-6842.
- Sinclair, J. B. (1982) Compendium of soybean diseases. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. *American Phytopathol. Soc. St. Paul, MN*. pp.104.



Srinivasan, K. (2014) Phenolic content and antioxidant activity of fenugreek. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutrition*, **54**(3):352-372.

Sukanya, R., Jayalakshmi, S. K. and Girish, G. (2016) Effect of temperature and pH levels on Growth of *Macrophomina phaseolina* (Tassi.) Goid. infecting Sorghum. *Int. J. Agri. Sci.***8**(37):1768-1770.

UNDER PEER REVIEW